
 

 

 

 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS 
50 UNITED NATIONS PLAZA 

MAIL BOX 1200; ROOM 1545 

SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102 

 REGION IX 

CALIFORNIA 

 

     June 29, 2017 

 

Dr. Victor Jaime, Ed.D. 

President, Imperial Valley College 

380 East Alten Road 

Imperial, CA 92251 

 

(In reply, please refer to case no. 09-16-2274) 

 

Dear Dr. Jaime:  

 

This letter is to notify you that the U.S. Department of Education (Department), Office for Civil 

Rights (OCR) has completed its investigation of a complaint filed against Imperial Valley 

College (the College).  The Complainant (the Student)
1
 alleged that the College discriminated 

against him on the basis of sex when it failed to provide him with an equitable resolution and 

appeal in a sexual harassment complaint that was filed against him by another student (Student 

2), as well as in a sexual harassment complaint that he made against Student 2.  The Student also 

alleged that the College harassed him based upon his disability.  In response to these allegations, 

OCR investigated whether the College:  

1. complied with Title IX requirements regarding: a) development and dissemination of  

notice of nondiscrimination pursuant to 34 C.F.R. § 106.9; b) designation and notice of a 

Title IX Coordinator pursuant to 34 C.F.R § 106.8(a); and c) development of grievance 

procedures pursuant to 34 C.F.R § 106.8(b); 

2. provided the Student with a prompt and equitable resolution to the complaint of sexual 

harassment that Student 2 filed against the Student, under 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.31 and 

106.8; 

3. provided the Student with a prompt and equitable resolution to his complaint of sexual 

harassment against Student 2 under 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.31 and 106.8; and, 

4. subjected the Student to harassment by a College employee based on disability, and the 

College failed to respond appropriately and effectively to notice of the harassment. 

 

                                                           
1
 The identity of the Student is withheld in this letter in order to protect his privacy. 
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OCR is responsible for enforcing Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 

U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., and its implementing regulations, which prohibit discrimination on the 

basis of sex, including sexual and gender-based harassment, in education programs or activities 

operated by recipients of Federal financial assistance.  The College receives funds from the 

Department, and is subject to Title IX and its implementing regulations. 

 

OCR is also responsible for enforcing Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 

504), 29 U.S.C. § 794, and its implementing regulation, at 34 C.F.R. Part 104.  Section 504 

prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability by recipients of federal financial assistance.  

OCR is also responsible for enforcing Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 

(Title II), 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq., and its implementing regulation, at 28 C.F.R. Part 35.  Title 

II prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability by public entities.  As a recipient of federal 

financial assistance and as a public entity, the College is subject to Section 504, Title II, and their 

implementing regulations. 

 

To investigate this complaint, OCR gathered evidence by reviewing documents and staff 

declarations provided by the College and interviewing the Student.  OCR concluded that with 

regard to issue 4, the preponderance of evidence did not establish a violation of Section 504 or 

Title II.  With regard to issue 1, OCR found that the College was not in compliance with Title IX 

as discussed further herein.  With regard to issues 2 and 3, prior to OCR completing its 

investigation, the College expressed interest in voluntary resolution pursuant to OCR’s Case 

Processing Manual (CPM) at section 302, and OCR determined that voluntary resolution was 

appropriate.  As a result, OCR did not make a determination regarding these two issues.  On June 

26, 2017, the College entered into a Resolution Agreement to resolve the areas of noncompliance 

and deficiencies identified herein.  The applicable legal standards, factual findings, and OCR’s 

resolution of each issue investigated in the complaint is summarized below.  

 

Background 

The Student has been taking classes at the College on and off since 2001, and continuously since 

2013.  The Student is recognized by the College as having a disability of ADHD and an 

unspecified learning disability, for which he receives accommodations.  The Student told OCR 

that he and Student 2 are XXXXXXX XX XXX XXXX XXXXXX, where they had met 

previously.  In May 2016, Student 2 made a report to the College’s Campus Safety Office that 

the Student had sexually harassed her at a county bus stop on her way to the College.  As part of 

its response to Student 2’s complaint, the College interviewed the Student.  The Student alleges 

that during this interview, he informed the College that he was sexually harassed by Student 2 

but that the College did not investigate his complaint or provide a response.  

 

Following an incident between the Student and Student 2 at the College’s Disabled Students’ 

Programs & Services (DSPS) office on May XX, 2016, the Student was suspended from the 
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College and escorted to the campus bus stop by Campus Safety Officers.  The Student alleges 

that the actions of the College in suspending him and escorting him off campus were 

discriminatory based on the Student’s disability.  Based on the complaint, OCR investigated the 

following issues: 

 

Issue 1: Whether the College complied with Title IX requirements regarding: a) development 

and dissemination of notice of nondiscrimination pursuant to 34 C.F.R. § 106.9; b) designation 

and notice of a Title IX Coordinator pursuant to 34 C.F.R § 106.8(a); and c) development of 

grievance procedures pursuant to 34 C.F.R § 106.8(b). 

 

OCR reviewed the College’s policies, procedures, and notifications concerning discrimination 

including harassment on the basis of sex, as well as the specific circumstances of the Student’s 

complaint.  

 

a)   Notice of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex 

 

Legal Standard 

The regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.9, requires each recipient to implement 

specific and continuing steps to notify applicants for admission and employment, students and 

parents, employees, sources of referral of applicants for admission and employment, and all 

unions or professional organizations holding collective bargaining or professional agreements 

with the recipient, that it does not discriminate on the basis of sex in any educational program or 

activity which it operates, and that it is required by Title IX and its implementing regulation at 34 

C.F.R. Part 106 not to discriminate in such a manner.  The notice must also state that questions 

regarding Title IX may be referred to the recipient’s Title IX coordinator or to OCR.    

 

Findings of Fact 

OCR reviewed the content and posting of the College’s notice of nondiscrimination (Notice) and 

determined that the Notice is available in three places online:  1) the 2016-2017 Course 

Catalog/Student Handbook (Student Handbook); 2) the Human Resources section of the 

Faculty/Staff section of the College’s website; 3) and the 2016-2017 Faculty Handbook (Faculty 

Handbook):  

 

 The Notice in the Student Handbook states that the College does not discriminate on the 

basis of sex, and designates the Chief Human Resources Officer (CHRO) and the Chief 

Student Services Officer (CSSO) as the College’s Title IX Coordinators and includes the 

College’s street address and the phone number for the Student Affairs Department.  

However, the CSSO position does not exist in the online Faculty & Staff directory at the 

College.
2
 

                                                           
2
 https://www.imperial.edu/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_view&gid=7411&Itemid=762 
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 The Notice in the Human Resources Policies section of the College’s website does not 

reference Title IX or the College’s Title IX Coordinators.  Rather, it includes contact 

information for the College’s Human Resources Office and for the College’s President, 

but they are not identified on the College’s website as the Title IX Coordinators.
3
  

 The Notice in the 2016-2017 Faculty Handbook has a combined 

Nondiscrimination/Equal Employment Opportunity Statement that does not include “sex” 

as a basis for prohibited discrimination or include any mention of Title IX.
4
   

 Job opportunities posted on the College’s website state only that the College is an Equal 

Opportunity Employer.5   

 

The College told OCR that new students are notified of all the policies of the College, including 

the nondiscrimination policy during orientation; as well as that students, faculty, and staff is 

notified “via personal advertisements through the various counselors, [the] Student Affairs 

Office, Student Handbooks, and email notices,” but that it had not retained these advertisements. 

 

Analysis, Concerns, and Conclusions of Law 

OCR determined that the College’s posted Notices are not compliant.  None of the Notices states 

that questions regarding Title IX may be referred to the College’s Title IX Coordinator or to 

OCR, or that the College is required by Title IX not to discriminate on the basis of sex.  The 

statement in the Faculty Handbook does not include “sex” as a prohibited basis for 

discrimination. The Notice in the Human Resources section of the College’s website and the 

Nondiscrimination/Equal Employment Opportunity statement in the Faculty Handbook also do 

not include contact information for the College’s Title IX Coordinators. OCR also determined 

that job notices appearing online state only that the College is an “Equal Opportunity Employer” 

and do not state that the College is required by Title IX not to discriminate on the basis of sex, 

and that questions regarding Title IX may be referred to the College’s Title IX Coordinators or to 

OCR.  OCR is also concerned that the Notice not posted online in places where it would be most 

accessible to students, as two of the three online locations are directed at staff and faculty.  

 

For the reasons stated above, the College’s notice of nondiscrimination does not meet the 

requirements of 34 C.F.R. § 106.9. 

 

b) Whether the University has appointed a Title IX coordinator as required by 34 

C.F.R. § 106.8(a). 

 

 

                                                           
3
 https://www.imperial.edu/faculty-and-staff/human-resources/policies/non-discrimination-policy/ 

4
 https://www.imperial.edu/faculty-and-staff/handbooks/ 

5
 https://www.imperial.edu/faculty-and-staff/human-resources/jobs/job-opportunities/classified/ 
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Legal Standard 

The regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(a), requires each recipient to 

designate at least one employee to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its 

responsibilities under the regulation implementing Title IX (Title IX coordinator), including 

investigation of any complaint communicated to the recipient alleging any actions which would 

be prohibited by the regulation implementing Title IX.  The Title IX coordinator must have 

knowledge of the requirements of Title IX and of the recipient’s own policies and procedures on 

sex discrimination.  If a recipient designates more than one Title IX coordinator, then one 

coordinator should be designated as having ultimate oversight responsibility.  Further, the 

recipient is required, by the Title IX implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(a), to notify 

all students and employees of the name (or title), office address, and telephone number of the 

designated employee(s). 

 

Findings of Fact 

The College identified the Title IX Coordinator as the Vice President for Student Services (Vice 

President).  The College informed OCR that additional individuals responsible for receiving and 

investigating complaints of sexual harassment include the interim CHRO; the Campus Safety 

Project Coordinator (CSC); the DSPS Coordinator; and the CHRO. 

 

The College informed OCR that the Vice President at the time of the Student’s complaint had 

attended three Title IX trainings.  The College told OCR that a consulting firm provided sexual 

harassment training to other College supervisors and administrators in February 2014.  The 

College stated that it is in the process of revising its Title IX policies and procedures, including 

revising the duties of its Title IX Coordinator and expanding the number of individuals 

responsible for Title IX compliance activities.  In this regard, the College provided OCR with a 

copy of Imperial Valley College Title IX Compliance Plan (July 18, 2016) (“Title IX Plan”) and 

informed OCR that it has begun implementing it.  The Title IX Plan distributes Title IX 

compliance responsibilities among four staff: 1) the Vice President (Compliance Administrator, 

Title IX Coordinator); 2) the Dean of Student Affairs (Deputy Student Title IX Coordinator); the 

interim CHRO (Deputy Human Resources Title IX Compliance); and the former CSC 

(Institutional Title IX Investigator: Title IX Consultant).  The College also provided OCR with 

the 2016-2017 training schedule for its Title IX compliance staff. 

 

OCR could not locate information about the Title IX Plan on the College’s website.  OCR found 

contact information for the College’s Title IX Coordinator and officers in three locations online, 

and none had been updated in accordance with the Title IX Plan.  The Student Handbook 

identifies the individuals responsible for Title IX compliance for the College as the CHRO and 

the CSSO and includes phone numbers and the College’s street address but does not include the 

Vice President’s name, title or contact information.  The College’s AP 5530 (“Students Rights 

and Grievances Policy”) states that a student may contact “the Title IX Officer” and provides the 
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phone number of the College’s Student Affairs Department, but not its address.  The College’s 

AP 3435 (“Discrimination and Harassment Investigations”) states that complaints can be made to 

the CHRO and CSSO, but does not identify them as Title IX Coordinators or include their 

contact information.
6
 

 

Analysis, Concerns, and Conclusions of Law 

The College provided information establishing that it had a Title IX Coordinator at the time of 

the Student’s complaint as well as currently, and that the former Coordinator had attended Title 

IX training programs.   As described above, the College has begun implementing a new Title IX 

Plan, which designates the College’s current Vice President as its Title IX 

Coordinator/Compliance Administrator overseeing three other Title IX officials with duties 

pertaining to students, staff/faculty, and investigations. The plan also identifies a series of Title 

IX-related trainings to be completed by the College’s Title IX officers during 2016-2017. OCR 

has not completed its investigation and has not interviewed the current Title IX Coordinator or 

the new Title IX officers charged with investigating sexual harassment complaints under the 

College’s new plan to evaluate their training, expertise, and familiarity with the College’s sexual 

harassment policies and procedures.  However, OCR also determined that the College’s various 

harassment policies and procedures designate individuals with different position titles as being 

responsible for receiving sexual harassment complaints and none of the existing documents 

identifies the designated Title IX Coordinator, as required by the regulations.  OCR also 

reviewed the College’s website and determined that as of May 2017 it has not been updated to 

identify and provide contact information for the College’s current Title IX Coordinator (or other 

officers).   

 

Accordingly, OCR found that the College is out of compliance with Title IX and its 

implementing regulations because it has not provided proper notice to staff and students 

regarding the individual(s) serving as the Title IX Coordinator.  OCR also identified a concern 

because  the College does not have current information about the identities and roles of the 

College’s Title IX officers, including their contact information.   

 

c) Whether the College has adopted policies and procedures that provide for a 

prompt and equitable responses to sexual harassment complaints and reports as 

required by 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(b). 

 

Legal Standard  

The Title IX regulations also establish procedural requirements that are important for the 

prevention and correction of sex discrimination, including sexual harassment.  When responding 

to alleged sexual harassment, a recipient must take immediate and appropriate action to 

                                                           
6
 The College’s Board Policies and Administrative Procedures are searchable online: 

http://www.boarddocs.com/ca/caiccd/Board.nsf/Publichttp://www.boarddocs.com/ca/caiccd/Board.nsf/Public 
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investigate or otherwise determine what occurred.  The inquiry must be prompt, reliable, and 

impartial.  If the investigation reveals that discriminatory harassment has occurred, a recipient 

must take timely, appropriate, and effective steps reasonably calculated to end the harassment, 

eliminate any hostile environment and its effects, and prevent the harassment from recurring.  

The recipient also should take steps to prevent any retaliation against the individual who made 

the complaint or those who provided information, testified, participated, or assisted in any 

manner with the investigation.   

 

To carry out these requirements, the recipient is required to adopt and publish grievance 

procedures providing for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints of sex discrimination 

(34 C.F.R. § 106.8[b]).  Title IX does not require a recipient to provide a separate grievance 

procedure for sexual harassment complaints.  A recipient may use student disciplinary or other 

separate procedures for these complaints; however, any procedures used to adjudicate complaints 

of sexual harassment, including disciplinary proceedings, must afford a prompt and equitable 

resolution.  

 

OCR examines a number of factors in evaluating whether a recipient’s grievance procedures are 

prompt and equitable, including whether the procedures provide for the following:  notice of the 

procedure to students, parents of elementary and secondary school students, and employees, 

including where to file complaints; application of the procedure to complaints alleging 

harassment by employees, other students, or third parties; adequate, reliable, and impartial 

investigation of complaints, including the opportunity to present witnesses and other evidence; 

designated and reasonably prompt timeframes for major stages of the complaint process; notice 

to the parties of the outcome of the complaint; and an assurance that steps will be taken to 

prevent recurrence of any harassment and to correct its discriminatory effects. 

 

Finding of Fact 

The College maintains multiple policies and procedures pertaining to harassment and 

discrimination.  OCR reviewed the following policies and procedures which appear to apply to 

sexual harassment complaints:  

 

 “Sexual Harassment Policy”;  

 AP/BP 3430 (“Prohibition of Harassment”);  

 AP 3435 (“Discrimination and Harassment Investigations”); and, 

 AP 5530 (“Student Rights and Grievances”).   

 

The College identified AP 3435 as its current sexual harassment complaint investigation 

procedures.  Relevant information about it and the other grievance procedures follows. 
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Sexual Harassment Policy 

OCR located the College’s Sexual Harassment Policy (SHP) in four places online:  among the 

policies contained in the Faculty/Staff section of the College’s website;
7
 in the Student 

Handbook; in the “Student Conduct” section of the Campus Safety Office webpage;
8
 and in the 

Annual Campus Safety Report.
9
  Depending upon where it is located, the Sexual Harassment 

Policy provides different information about how to make a complaint.  The College did not 

provide OCR with information about when the SHP was used.  

 The SHP in the Faculty/Staff section of the College’s website includes a list of relevant 

Board Policies and Administrative Procedures, including BP 3430, AP 3430, and AP 

3435, but does not state which one applies to complaints of sexual harassment.  Under the 

subsection “How to File a Complaint,” the SHP directs complaints to “the District's 

Policy and Procedures for Unlawful Discrimination Under Title 5, Sections 59300 et 

seq.” without stating what this code section refers to or where it is located.
10

  The SHP 

also includes contact information, consisting of the building number and phone number, 

for the College’s Human Resources Offices and for the College’s President, but provides 

no information about the role of either individual with regard to the SHP.  The SHP in 

this location also includes a PDF, “Complaint of Unlawful Discrimination” which is 

required for individuals making formal complaints against the District pursuant to Title 5, 

Sections 59300 et seq.,
11

 as well for complaints against the District pursuant to AP 3435.  

The form is a single page and does not reference Title IX or the Title IX Coordinator.  It 

also is generic and includes a list of boxes identifying the basis of the alleged 

discrimination (race, sex, disability).  The form must be submitted to either the College’s 

Human Resources Office or the Legal Affairs Divisions of the Chancellor’s Office, and 

includes the street addresses for both offices but not their phone numbers. 

 The SHP in the Campus Safety Report, as well in the Student Conduct section of the 

Campus Safety Office webpage, refer complainants to the Human Resources Offices for 

“the rules and procedures for reporting charges of sexual harassment and pursuing 

available remedies.”  On September 8, 2016, the College’s Vice President informed OCR 

that the Human Resources Offices’ rules and procedures for reporting charges of sexual 

harassment are as follows:  “The written policy and procedures for filing and processing 

complaints for unlawful discrimination and sexual harassment are contained in the 

                                                           
7
 https://www.imperial.edu/faculty-and-staff/human-resources/policies/sexual-harassment-policy/ 

8
 https://www.imperial.edu/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_view&gid=6177&Itemid=762; 

9 https://www.imperial.edu/ivc/files/campus_safety/student_conduct/sexual_harassment_policy.pdf 
10

 “Title 5, Sections 59300 et seq.” refers to California Code of Regulations Title 5, Board of Governors of the 

California Community Colleges: Nondiscrimination in Programs Receiving State Financial Assistance. This code 

section is the legal basis for both AP 3430 and AP 3435. 
11

 https://www.imperial.edu/ivc/files/HR/Unlawful_Discrimination_Complaint_Form.pdf 
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District's Policy and Procedures for Unlawful Discrimination Under Title 5, Sections 

59300 et seq.”   

 The SHP in the Student Handbook refers complainants to the College’s Title IX Officers 

for information about how to make a complaint, identifies the officers as the CHRO and 

CSSO, and lists their phone numbers and the College’s street address. 

 

AP/BP 3430 (Prohibition of Harassment) 

The College informed OCR that AP 3430 is the current policy prohibiting sexual harassment.  

AP 3430 prohibits harassment based on a number of characteristics including sex.  AP 3430 is 

located in the Governance/Board Policies section of the College’s website, but does not contain 

grievance procedures. Instead, it instructs individuals who believe that they have been harassed 

or retaliated against to report the incident by following the administrative procedures described 

in AP 3435. 

 

AP 3435 (Discrimination and Harassment Investigations) 

The College informed OCR that AP 3435 is currently used to investigate sexual harassment 

complaints, but that it is under revision.  There is no corresponding BP 3435.  AP 3435 states 

that the policy and procedures will be provided to all students, staff, and faculty members as well 

as will be posted on campus and on the District’s website.  However, OCR located AP 3435 in 

only one place, the Governance/Board Policies section of the College’s website.  As with the 

Notice, the College also told OCR that it notified students, faculty, and staff of 

nondiscrimination policies “via personal advertisements through the various counselors, the 

Student Affairs Office, and the Student Handbook,” but that it had not retained them.  AP 3435 

does not mention Title IX or state that it applies to sexual harassment complaints specifically; 

however, it states that investigators shall have adequate training on what constitutes sexual 

harassment. 

 

AP 3435 contains informal and formal grievance processes.  Informal complaints are defined as 

unwritten allegations of harassment, discrimination, or retaliation; or written allegations of the 

same that fall outside the formal complaint timelines or that are within the formal complaint 

timelines but the complainant expressly indicates that they do not wish to file a formal 

complaint.  Informal complaints involving students must be submitted to the CSSO or to any 

other District or College administrator who will then notify the CSSO.  As noted previously, 

there is no employee listed in the online Faculty/Staff directory with the title “CSSO.” AP 3435 

states that an informal complaint will be investigated, if the CSSO determines that the 

allegation(s), if proven true, would constitute a violation of the District’s policy prohibiting 

harassment, discrimination, or retaliation; that the CSSO may limit the scope of the investigation 

as she/he deem appropriate; and that the CSSO will determine when further investigation is 

necessary and if so utilize the formal complaint investigation process as appropriate.  No 
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information is provided as to the process the CSSO will use in making this determination, and 

whether the parties will receive notice of the outcome. 

 

Formal complaints must be written and signed and filed with the District or State Chancellor’s 

Office within one year of the alleged harassment, and must include the form described in the 

SHP section above.  The CHRO or CSSO is charged with receiving a complaint of 

discrimination or harassment and coordinating its investigation; the CEO/College President may 

also assign the investigation of complaints to other staff or to outside persons or organizations.  

Inconsistent information is provided with regard to investigating allegations of sexual 

harassment that take place off-campus:  one section states that an allegation will be investigated 

if it pertains to a program or activity “sponsored by the District”; another section states that it 

will be investigated if it is “related to academic or work activity.” Under AP 3435, at the 

conclusion of the investigation, the complainant is provided with a copy of the investigative 

report and written notice of the determination of the CEO or his/her designee as to whether there 

is “probable cause to believe discrimination occurred with respect to each allegation in the 

complaint.”  

 

AP 5530 (Student Rights and Grievances) 

AP 5530 is included among the Board Policies on the College’s website.  Without being 

identified as AP 5530, it also appears in the Student Affairs section of the College’s website as 

the “Student Rights and Grievances Policy (Formerly Student Complaint Form).”
12

  AP 5530 

states that its purpose is “to provide a prompt and equitable means of resolving student 

grievances,” and that it applies “sex discrimination as prohibited by Title IX of the Higher 

Education Amendments of 1972.”  Because AP 5530, as written, applies to sex discrimination, 

OCR asked the College if AP 5530 is ever applied to complaints of sexual harassment.  The 

College replied only that AP 3435 is the current procedure for responding to complaints of 

sexual harassment.  OCR noted significant differences between its grievance procedures and 

those of AP 3435, and that its stated application to “sex discrimination as prohibited by Title IX” 

may create confusion for individuals attempting to access the College’s grievance system.  

 

Analysis, Concerns, and Conclusions of Law 

The College has at least four sets of policies and procedures prohibiting harassment and 

discrimination, and they are inconsistent with each other.  OCR found that the College’s policies 

and procedures are not in compliance with Title IX and its implementing regulations for the 

following reasons: 

 

Sexual Harassment Policy  

OCR determined that the College’s SHP was not in compliance with 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(b) 

because it does not provide adequate notice to students and employees of the grievance 

                                                           
12

 https://www.imperial.edu/students/student-affairs/policies/student-complaint-policy/ 
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procedures that apply, including where complaints of sexual harassment may be filed.  Instead, it 

refers potential complainants to other sources for information about how to make a complaint, 

and the information provided in these sources is also deficient.  OCR found that depending upon 

where it is located, the SHP refers complainants to different sources for information about 

grievance procedures, and none of the sources specified is the College’s sexual harassment 

grievance procedure, AP 3435; the documents referred to also do not include appropriate contact 

information for an individual with whom a potential complainant could speak to determine how 

to file a complaint.  

 

AP/BP 3430 also provides insufficient notice to students and employees of the procedures that 

apply, including where complaints of sexual harassment may be filed.  AP/BP 3430 is located 

only in the Governance/Board Policies section of the College’s website.  Although it is identified 

as an “administrative procedure,” AP 3430 does not contain any grievance procedures.  Instead it 

cites to BP 3430, which also does not contain grievance procedures and instructs individuals who 

believe that they have been harassed or retaliated against to follow the procedures in AP 3435.   

 

AP 3435 is also not compliant. It provides notice to students and employees of where complaints 

may be filed, but it is not easily located or widely distributed.  It is located in just one place, in 

the Governance/Board Policies section of the College’s website, and can only be located if a 

person searches specifically for the procedure number, as it does not state that it applied to 

complaints of sexual harassment. OCR also determined that AP 3435 does not provide an 

equitable process.  The formal complaint process does not provide for notice to both parties of 

the outcome of the complaint: the complainant, but not the respondent, is required to receive a 

written summary of the investigation report.  AP 3435 does not require that the recipient consider 

the effects of off-campus misconduct when evaluating whether there is a hostile environment on 

campus.  It contains inconsistent information about its application to off-campus activities that 

occur as part of the College’s programs and activities; the narrower definition would not cover 

all of the activities within Title IX’s scope.  OCR also had a concern because while AP 3435’s 

formal complaint process has a comprehensive list of remedies to prevent the recurrence of 

harassment for a complainant but lacks an assurance that the College will take steps to correct 

the discriminatory effect of the harassment on others, as needed. 

 

OCR determined that AP 3435’s informal complaint process did not comply with Title IX and its 

implementing regulations because it does not require an equitable process or state that it has 

procedurals safeguards.  Instead, the scope and process of the investigation is left up to the 

discretion of the investigating officer, who “may limit the scope of the investigation as 

appropriate.”  OCR is concerned that the limitation could be applied inequitably or with the 

effect of denying an adequate and reliable resolution process.  In addition, process contains no 

designation of reasonably prompt timeframes for the major stages of the complaint process.  

There is no requirement that either party receive notice of the outcome.   
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Accordingly, OCR found that the College is not in compliance with 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(b) 

requiring the adoption of policies and procedures provide for a prompt and equitable response to 

sexual harassment complaints.  

 

Issue 2:  Whether the College provided the Student with a prompt and equitable resolution to the 

complaint of sexual harassment Student 2 filed against him, under 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.31 and 

106.8. 

 

Legal Standard: Student-on-Student Harassment 

The regulations implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.31, prohibit discrimination based on 

sex by recipients of Federal financial assistance.  Colleges are responsible under Title IX and the 

regulation for providing students with a nondiscriminatory educational environment.  Sexual 

harassment of a student can result in the denial or limitation, on the basis of sex, of the student’s 

ability to participate in or receive education benefits, services, or opportunities.   

Under the Title IX and the regulations, once a university has notice of possible sexual 

harassment between students, it is responsible for determining what occurred and responding 

appropriately.  The college is not responsible for the actions of a harassing student, but rather for 

its own discrimination in failing to respond adequately.  A college may violate Title IX and the 

regulations if:  (1) the harassing conduct is sufficiently serious – severe, persistent, or pervasive 

– as to create a hostile environment that denies or limits the student’s ability to participate in or 

benefit from the educational program; (2) the college knew or reasonably should have known 

about the harassment; and (3) the college fails to take appropriate responsive action.  These steps 

are the college’s responsibility whether or not the student who was harassed makes a complaint 

or otherwise asks the university to take action. 

OCR evaluates the appropriateness of the responsive action to alleged discrimination on the basis 

of sex by assessing whether it was prompt and effective.  What constitutes a reasonable response 

to discrimination will differ depending upon the circumstances.  However, in all cases the 

university must promptly conduct an impartial inquiry designed to reliably determine what 

occurred.  The response must be tailored to stop the discrimination, and remedy the effects of the 

discrimination on the student who was discriminated against.  The college must also take steps to 

prevent the discrimination from recurring.  Other actions may be necessary to repair the 

educational environment.  These may include special training or other interventions, the 

dissemination of information, new policies, and/or other steps that are designed to clearly 

communicate the message that the university does not tolerate discrimination and will be 

responsive to any student reports of discrimination.  The college also should take steps to prevent 

any retaliation against the student who made the complaint or those who provided information.  
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Findings of Fact 

Student 2 complained to the Campus Safety Office on May X, 2016, that the Student had hugged 

and kissed her at an off-campus county bus stop on the way to school on May X, 2016, and that 

he had done so previously despite her asking him multiple times not to greet her this way.  

Student 2 informed Campus Safety Officers that she was unsure of the Student’s name.  In 

response to Student 2’s complaint, Campus Safety Officers identified the Student, contacted him, 

and escorted him to meet with the Vice President on May XX, 2016.  Campus Safety Officers 

documented this in an Incident Report. 

The Student told OCR that at the start of the meeting the Vice President identified himself as the 

College’s Title IX Officer and told him that Student 2 had complained that the Student had 

hugged and kissed at the bus stop on May X after she had previously asked him not to do so.  

The Student told OCR that he was surprised by this allegation, that he and Student 2 are 

XXXXXXX XX XXX XXXX XXXXXX, and that it is a common practice for XXXXXXX XX 

XXX XXXXXX to hug and kiss each other as a form of greeting.  The Student told OCR that he 

had hugged and kissed Student 2 twice off campus XXXXXXXXX XX XXXXXX, that he did 

not think this form of greeting was unwanted, and that he did not greet her in this way after she 

asked him to stop in April 2016.  The Student told OCR that he also provided this information to 

the Vice President during their May XX, 2016 meeting.  He alleged that the Vice President did 

not ask him any questions including the names of any witnesses who could corroborate his 

statement that he had already ceased greeting Student 2 with a hug and kiss.  He also alleged that 

the Vice President “talked over” him and did not tell him anything about the process for 

investigating Student 2’s complaint other than that he should stay away from Student 2, that if he 

did so the complaint would be closed, and that if he did not, the Vice President would have to 

investigate her complaint.  The Student told OCR that he agreed to stay away from Student 2, 

and that he believed her complaint was closed after he met with the Vice President.  The Student 

stated that he believed the Vice President’s instruction to “stay away” applied to Student 2 as 

well, that is, that they were both to have no contact with each other.  The Student stated that his 

May XX, 2016, conversation with the Vice President was the only time he received any 

information from anyone at the College regarding Student 2’s complaint or any investigation into 

it, and that he never received notice of an outcome or determination with regard to Student 2’s 

complaint against him.  

The College provided OCR with a declaration from the Vice President briefly describing his 

May XX, 2016, meeting with the Student.  The Vice President stated that the Student said he had 

never approached Student in “that manner” while on campus, and that the Vice President advised 

him not to approach Student 2 so that there would be “no reason for Student 2 to continue with 

the complaint.”  The declaration states that the Vice President met with Student 2  after talking to 

the Student, on May XX, 2016, to follow up on an incident that occurred between the students in 
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the DSPS office on May XX, 2016
13

.  The Vice President alleged that during the May XX, 2106 

meeting, Student 2 told him that the Student tried to hug her in the counseling office on May X; 

that he swore at her in the waiting area of the DSPS office on May XX, 2016 and told her he was 

going to get a restraining order against her; and that a male friend (Student 3) informed Student 2 

that the Student had made a threat against her.  As a result, she did not go to school on May XX, 

2016 because she was afraid.  

The Vice President alleged that he interviewed Student 3 on May XX, 2016.  Student 3 stated 

that the Student told him that if he saw Student 2, he would “slap her.”  Other than the incident 

report and the Vice President’s declaration, the College provided no other documentation related 

to its investigation of Student 2’s complaint that the Student had sexually harassed her by 

hugging and kissing her at an off-campus bus stop. 

Analysis, Concerns, and Conclusions of Law 

Based on the facts gathered to date through documents from the College, statements from several 

College staff, and OCR’s interview with the Student, OCR is concerned that the College may not 

have provided the Student with an equitable response to Student 2’s complaint.   

The Student alleged that the Vice President did not ask questions or try to gather evidence that 

could substantiate Student’s assertion that he had already stopped greeting Student 2 with a hug 

and kiss.  The Vice President’s declaration does not provide sufficient detail about his meeting 

with the Student to affirm or refute this allegation.  In his declaration, the Vice President 

identifies that the only responsive action taken by the College was his instruction to the Student 

to stay away from Student 2.  There is no evidence that the Vice President sought to corroborate 

the Student’s statement that he had already ceased hugging and kissing Student 2 as a form of 

greeting and that he did not do so on May X, 2016; there is no indication as to whether the Vice 

President closed the complaint; made a determination that sexual harassment had/had not 

occurred; or provided notice of any outcome to the Student and Student 2.   

 

The Vice President’s declaration states that he met with Student 2 on May XX, 2016 to discuss 

what had happened in a later incident, and that he subsequently interviewed a witness (Student 

3), who stated that the Student had informed him that he wanted to “slap” Student 2.  OCR is 

concerned that the Student was not provided with an opportunity to respond to this additional 

allegation, or that the Student was even aware of it.   

 

Based on the limited evidence reviewed to date, OCR identified a deficiency because the Student 

may not have been provided with a prompt and equitable response to Student 2’s complaint of 

sexual harassment.  As stated above, because the College expressed interest in voluntary 

                                                           
13

 This incident is described below, in connection with Issue 3. 
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resolution, OCR did not complete its investigation of this allegation or reach conclusions 

regarding the College’s compliance with Title IX and its implementing regulation.  

 

Issue 3:  Whether the College provided the Student with a prompt and equitable resolution to his 

complaint of sexual harassment against Student 2 under 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.31 and 106.8. 

 

Legal Standard 

See issue 1(d) above. 

 

Findings of Fact 

As described above, Student 2 filed a sexual harassment complaint against the Student with the 

Campus Safety Office on May X, 2016.  The Student alleged to OCR that when the Vice 

President interviewed him in response to this complaint, he told the Vice President that Student 2 

had sexually harassed him on the bus on the way to school the previous day by sitting next to 

him on the bus and putting her hand on his leg near his groin.  He stated that he felt 

uncomfortable and asked Student 2 to remove her hand, and that she did so and walked away.  

The Student further alleged that the Vice President did not take any action with respect to his 

complaint. 

 

On May XX, 2016, the CSC was called to the College’s DSPS office in response to an incident 

between the Student and Student 2.  As part of the response, the CSC and Safety Officer 1 

interviewed the Student.  The Student alleged that he told the CSC and Safety Officer during the 

interview that Student 2 had sexually harassed him on the bus on May X, 2016, as well as that he 

had verbally complained about it to the Vice President on May XX.  The Student told OCR that 

the CSC allegedly responded by telling him to “put up with it.”   

 

The College provided OCR with a declaration from the CSC regarding his interview with the 

Student on May XX, 2016.  In it, the CSC states that the Student told him that he (the Student)  

had complained “about the female student” to the Vice President during their meeting on May 

XX, 2016 and that the Vice President did not listen to him. The CSC also states that the Student 

complained that the College did not contact him after his meeting with the Vice President to tell 

him what actions were taken based on the report he made about Student 2’s alleged conduct.  

The CSC states that he advised the Student to avoid Student 2 and to call the Campus Safety 

Office if he had any problems with her bothering him.   

 

After speaking with the CSC on May XX, 2016, the Student states that he verbally complained 

again to the Vice President during a second meeting that Student 2 had sexually harassed him on 

the bus, and that the Vice President again dismissed his complaint by saying that Student 2’s 

alleged harassing behavior was not “the same” as the Student’s alleged harassing behavior.  The 
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Vice President’s declaration does not mention the Student making this allegation during this 

meeting.  

 

The Student informed OCR that he then attempted to meet with the College President. The 

President was not in his office, so the Student met instead with the President’s Executive 

Assistant.  In a statement provided to OCR, the President’s Executive Assistant stated that the 

Student complained to her that “things were not fair” and “not equal between men and women” 

at the College, and that in response she explained how to file a complaint and the steps of the 

College’s grievance process, including how to appeal to the Board of Trustees.   

 

The Student told OCR that because the College did not respond to his complaint of sexual 

harassment by Student 2, and because Student 2 was allegedly coming by his house, he obtained 

a restraining order from Superior Court and provided it to the Campus Safety Office.  The 

College provided OCR with copies of documents showing that the Student had unsuccessfully 

applied for a temporary restraining order (TRO) on May XX, 2016 for allegations that included 

that Student 2 “placed her hands on my right leg reaching for my private area” on a bus on May 

X, 2016.   

 

Analysis, Concerns, and Conclusions of Law 

The College expressed interest in voluntary resolution on September 14, 2016, before OCR had 

interviewed College staff.  Based on OCR’s factual findings to date, OCR is concerned that the 

College may have been on notice of alleged sexual harassment of the Student by Student 2, and 

may not have provided a prompt and equitable response to the Student’s complaint.   

 

As described above, the Student told OCR that he twice verbally complained to the Vice 

President that Student 2 had sexually harassed him on the bus and that both times the Vice 

President allegedly did not investigate his complaint.  The Vice President’s declaration does not 

address this issue.  The CSC’s declaration confirms that the Student informed him that he 

complained about Student 2 to the Vice President on May XX, 2016.  However, the declaration 

does not include that the Student complained about sexual harassment.   

 

Additional evidence provided by the College establishes that the Student wanted to make a 

complaint related to sex discrimination:  the Executive Assistant’s statement shows that she 

understood that the Student wanted to complain about unequal treatment of male and female 

students, and that she had provided him with information about how to do so.  The Student also 

provided the College with a court document that included the allegation at issue again Student 2, 

but the date that this document was provided to the College is unknown. 

  

In sum, the evidence gathered to date raises a concern that the College may have been on notice 

of the Student’s initial complaint of sexual harassment, as well that his complaint was not 
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investigated or resolved.  Because the College expressed an interest in resolving the complaint, 

OCR did not complete the investigation to determine whether the information provided to the 

College was sufficient to raise the possibility of sexual harassment and whether the College 

responded adequately.   

 

Issue 4:  Whether the College subjected the Student to harassment by a College employee based 

on disability, and the College failed to respond appropriately and effectively to notice of the 

harassment. 

 

Legal Standards 

The regulations implementing Section 504, at 34 C.F.R. §104.4(a) and (b), prohibit 

discrimination based on disability by recipients of Federal financial assistance.  The Title II 

regulations, at 28 C.F.R. §35.130(a) and (b), create the same prohibition against disability-based 

discrimination by public entities.  Colleges are responsible under Section 504 and Title II for 

providing students with a nondiscriminatory educational environment.    Harassment of a student 

based on disability can result in the denial or limitation of the student’s ability to participate in or 

receive education benefits, services, or opportunities. 

  

Colleges provide program benefits, services, and opportunities to students through the 

responsibilities given to employees.  If an employee who is acting, or reasonably appears to be 

acting, in the context of carrying out these responsibilities engages in disability-based 

harassment that is sufficiently serious to deny or limit a student’s ability to participate in or 

benefit from the program, the college is responsible for the discriminatory conduct whether or 

not it has notice.   

   

Under Section 504, Title II, and the regulations, if a student is harassed based on disability by an 

employee, the College is responsible for determining what occurred and responding 

appropriately.  OCR evaluates the appropriateness of the responsive action by assessing whether 

it was prompt, thorough and effective.  What constitutes a reasonable response to harassment 

will differ depending upon circumstances.  However, in all cases the response must be tailored to 

stop the harassment, eliminate the hostile environment if one has been created, and address the 

problems experienced by the student who was harassed.  The College must also take steps to 

prevent the harassment from recurring, including disciplining the harasser where appropriate. 

  

Findings of Fact 

The College provided OCR with a copy of the Student’s DSPS file indicating that he has a 

diagnosis of ADHD and a Learning Disability not otherwise specified.  The Student alleges that 

he was harassed by College officials based upon his disability on three occasions on May XX, 

2016, and that he felt threatened during a series of incidents on May XX, 2016, which 

exacerbated his disability.   
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The Student told OCR that he went to meet with his DSPS counselor on the morning of May 

XX, 2016, that Student 2 approached him and began trying to talk to him, that he became 

frustrated because he believed she was not abiding by the no-contact instruction and that he 

asked her to leave him alone.  When she did not do so, he swore at her under his breath.  Student 

2 contacted the Campus Safety Office to report the interaction and that she felt threatened by it.  

The College told OCR that the CSC and Safety Officer 1 responded, asked permission to 

interrupt the Student’s meeting with his DSPS counselor and interview him to determine what 

happened, and upon receiving permission did so with the Student’s DSPS counselor present.   

 

The College provided OCR with a declaration from the CSC; and statements from Safety Officer 

1, a DSPS office assistant who witnessed the initial interaction, and the Student’s DSPS 

counselor who sat in on the interview.  The statements describe the Student as highly agitated 

and emotional.  Safety Officer 1 alleged that the CSC advised the Student to stay away from 

Student 2, and that this upset the Student because he asserted that Student 2 had approached him 

first.  The office assistant, who witnessed the incident, confirmed that Student 2 approached the 

Student.  The Student told OCR he felt that the CSC and Safety Officer 1 were harassing him.  

Both the CSC and the Safety Officer stated that the Student informed them that he felt harassed.  

 

The Student told OCR that he was upset by what had occurred in the DSPS office and so he went 

to meet with the Vice President.  The Student told OCR that because the Vice President was not 

listening to him when he tried to explain his side of the story, the Student left. The Student 

alleged that this made the Vice President angry and so he suspended the Student.  In his 

declaration, the Vice President stated that the Student became increasingly upset during their 

meeting, refused to stay seated and listen to him, and complained that he was harassed by the 

CSC.  The Vice President stated that he warned the Student not to leave his office or he would 

suspend him.  According to the Vice President, the student allegedly got up, left the office, and 

slammed the door.  Based on his belief that the Student was a safety concern due to his anger, the 

Vice President alerted Campus Safety Officers that the Student was on his way to the President’s 

Office, and asked them to locate and escort the Student off campus.  He also issued an interim 

suspension. 

 

The Student told OCR that he noticed Campus Safety Officers following him, and that as a result 

he felt threatened and took out his cell phone to record them.  The Student alleges that he told the 

officers to stop harassing and following him.  When they did not, he activated a 911 alarm on an 

emergency tower and informed the county Sheriff’s Office that he was being harassed and 

threatened by Campus Safety Officers.  Campus Safety Officer 1’s supplemental Incident Report 

states that he and another officer responded to a report from the Administrative Secretary that the 

Student was being disruptive.  The Incident Report further states that the safety officers made 

contact with the Student near the President’s Office and instructed him to go to the bus stop and 
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stay there until the bus picked him up.  The Incident Report states that despite being warned not 

to, the Student pushed the “panic button,” on the emergency tower and told the Sheriff’s Office 

that he was being harassed and threatened by the responding officers.  The Incident Report states 

that the Vice President asked that the Student not be arrested, and the Sheriff’s Officers 

responded to the 911 alarm and escorted the Student to the bus stop without further incident. 

 

The Student did not make a complaint about disability-based harassment to the College.   

  

Analysis and Conclusions of Law 

Based on the preponderance of evidence, OCR determined that College staff were acting in the 

context of carrying out their responsibilities at the time they engaged in the alleged disability-

based harassment.  The CSC and Safety Officer 1 were responding to Student 2’s report that she 

had been contacted by the Student in the DSPS office and felt threatened.  The Vice President’s 

meeting with the Student was part of his duties as a College administrator.  Campus Safety 

Officers were responding to the Vice President’s report that the Student had been suspended and 

instructed to leave campus and had not done so, and could be a safety concern. 

 

OCR found credible the Student’s statement that he felt harassed by the CSC when he and Safety 

Officer 1 interrupted the Student’s meeting with his DSPS counselor.  However, statements from 

the CSC, Safety Officer 1, and the Student’s DSPS counselor contained no evidence that the 

CSC or the Safety Officer 1 harassed or threatened the Student on the basis of disability, or at all, 

when they questioned him. The Student also did not provide any evidence that any of these 

individuals made any statements related to disability or otherwise made statements that could be 

considered harassing in nature. 

 

Similarly, OCR found credible that the Student believed that the Vice President should have but 

did not take into account the ways that the Student’s disability affected his actions during the 

meeting.  However, even if true, the Vice President’s alleged failure to take this information into 

account does not constitute legally actionable harassment.  The Vice President took action based 

on his stated perception that there were safety concerns due to the Student’s anger including the 

Student’s refusal to stay seated.  

 

OCR also found credible the Student’s statement that he felt threatened and harassed by the 

Campus Safety Officers who interacted with him after he was suspended by the Vice President.  

However, there was no evidence indicating that the officers engaged in disability-based 

harassing or threatening conduct during their efforts to locate and escort the Student off campus.  

Additionally, there is no evidence that the responding Campus Safety Officers were aware of the 

Student’s disability at time that they were performing their duties.  OCR also could not 

substantiate the Student’s allegation that his ADHD and Learning Disability were worsened by 

his encounters with Campus Safety Officers.  There was likewise no evidence that the Student 
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complained to the College about being subjected to disability-based harassment, and that the 

College failed to respond appropriately and effectively to notice of the harassment.   

 

Accordingly, OCR found insufficient evidence that the College was in violation of Section 504 

and Title II, and their implementing regulations, with respect to this issue. 

 

Conclusion 

On June 26, 2016 the College entered into the enclosed Agreement with OCR that is aligned 

with the allegations investigated, and the information obtained by OCR during the investigation.  

In summary, the Agreement requires the College to revise and distribute its notices of 

nondiscrimination to comply with 34 C.F.R. § 106.9(b); ensure that the required information 

regarding its Title IX Coordinator(s) is posted and made available on its website and in its 

policies and procedures consistent with 34 C.F.R. § 106.8(a), and ensure that its Title IX 

Coordinator and other individuals with Title IX-related complaint investigation duties receive 

appropriate training; and revise all policies and procedures used to respond to complaints of 

sexual harassment and sex discrimination to be consistent with Title IX and its implementing 

regulations.  It also requires the College, in accordance with its revised sexual harassment 

complaint policies procedures, to provide the Complainant with a prompt and equitable response 

to the complaint of sexual harassment that was made against him by Student 2, as well as to the 

complaint that he made against Student 2, including but not limited to conducting an equitable, 

adequate, reliable, and impartial investigation and providing the parties with notice of the 

outcome of the investigation. 

 

OCR will monitor the implementation of the Agreement until the College is in compliance with 

Title IX, 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a), and its implementing regulations, which were at issue in this case. 

 

This concludes OCR’s investigation of the complaint and should not be interpreted to address the 

College’s compliance with any other regulatory provision or to address any issues other than 

those addressed in this letter.  OCR is closing the investigation of this complaint as of the date of 

this letter, and notifying the Student concurrently.  This letter sets forth OCR’s determination in 

an individual OCR case.  This letter is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be 

relied upon, cited, or construed as such.  OCR’s formal policy statements are approved by a duly 

authorized OCR official and made available to the public.  The Student may have the right to file 

a private suit in federal court whether or not OCR finds a violation.  

 

Please be advised that the College may not harass, coerce, intimidate, retaliate, or discriminate 

against any individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint 

resolution process.  If this happens, the individual may file a complaint alleging such treatment.   
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Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related 

correspondence and records upon request.  In the event that OCR receives such a request, it will 

seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information, which, if 

released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal 

privacy. 

 

OCR would like to thank the College for its assistance in resolving this complaint.  If you have 

any questions please contact OCR attorney Matthew Wood at 415-486-5591 or 

Matthew.Wood@ed.gov. 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

/s/ 

 

Brian Lambert 

Acting Team Leader 

 

 

Enclosure 




